THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

NOV 20 2015

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
THE HONORABLE R. KNOX McMAHON  
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

S.C. Supreme Court

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001100  
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2012-CP-32-3496

---

Opinion No. 2015-UP-107 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 4, 2015)

---

Roger R. Riemann,

PETITIONER,

versus

Palmetto Gems & Gemological Services, Inc. &  
Thomas Shofner, in his individual capacity,

RESPONDENTS.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

Eugene H. Matthews  
Carmen V. Ganjehsani  
Sheila M. Bias  
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, PA  
1900 Barnwell Street (29201)  
Post Office Drawer 7788

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in holding that the arbitration clause of the parties' Shareholder Management Agreement provided "clear and unmistakable" evidence the parties agreed questions of arbitrability for all disputes between Riemann and the Respondents, including statutory claims not subject to arbitration and those claims legally distinct from the parties' contractual relationship, were to be decided by the arbitrator rather than the court?
  - A. Whether Riemann's statutory claim for violation of the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act is not arbitrable per the provisions of the statute and whether the mere presence of a delegation provision does not require that the claim be sent to gateway arbitration where there is no plausible argument Riemann could be forced to arbitrate this claim?
  - B. Whether Riemann's tort claims for wrongful discharge, defamation, and intentional infliction of emotional distress do not arise out of or relate to the Shareholder Management Agreement which only governs the corporate management of Palmetto Gems and whether these claims are therefore not subject to the delegation provision of the Dispute Resolution Clause of the Agreement?
  
- II. Whether the Trial Court correctly determined that Riemann's statutory and tort claims against the Respondents were not subject to arbitration?
  - A. Whether the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act statutorily bars the Respondents from forcing Riemann to arbitrate his statutory claim under the Act?
  - B. Whether Riemann's tort claims for wrongful discharge, defamation, and intentional infliction of emotional distress are not claims that "arise out of or are related to" the Shareholder Management Agreement and whether these claims are therefore not subject to the Dispute Resolution Clause of the Agreement?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appeal in this matter stems from a suit originally filed on August 24, 2012 in Lexington County by Petitioner Roger R. Riemann against Respondents Palmetto Gems & Gemological Services, Inc. (“Palmetto Gems”) and Thomas Shofner (“Shofner”), in his individual capacity, (collectively, the “Respondents”) initially asserting claims for (1) violation of the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act, S.C. CODE ANN. § 41-10-10 *et seq.*; (2) a tort claim for wrongful discharge in violation of South Carolina public policy; and (3) a defamation claim based on false statements Shofner made to Riemann’s wife that Riemann was a “thief” and had stolen jewelry. [R.pp. 21-29; Complaint.]

On October 29, 2012, the Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative, Stay Proceedings and Compel Arbitration. [R.pp. 30-31; Motion.] On or about December 26, 2012, Riemann subsequently moved to amend his complaint to add a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress against the Respondents based on the statements Shofner made to Riemann’s wife. [R.pp. 41 – 53; Motion to Amend.]

On February 13, 2013, the parties appeared before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon for a hearing on the pending motions. [R.pp. 54-105; Hearing Tr.] On June 24, 2013, the Trial Court issued its Order denying the Respondents’ motion to dismiss and compel arbitration and granting Riemann’s motion to amend his complaint. [R.pp. 1 – 20; Order.]

The Respondents appealed the denial of their motion to dismiss and compel arbitration to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on August 1, 2013. After argument, the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished decision on March 4, 2015, reversing the

Trial Court's denial of the Respondents' motion to compel arbitration and remanding the case to the Trial Court for an order consistent with its Opinion that the questions of arbitrability in this case were to be decided by the arbitrator rather than the court. *Roger R. Riemann v. Palmetto Gems & Gemological Servs., Inc. et al.*, Op. No. 2015-UP-107 (Ct. App. March 4, 2015); App. '1-3. Riemann filed his Petition for Rehearing on March 19, 2015. App. 4-20. The Respondents filed their Return to the Petition for Rehearing on March 30, 2015. App. 21-27. By Order filed April 21, 2015, the Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Rehearing. App. 28.

Riemann filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with this Court seeking review of the Court of Appeals' Opinion on May 21, 2015. On October 21, 2015, this Court granted Riemann's Petition for Writ of Certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' decision.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner Riemann is a gemologist who was employed with the Respondent Palmetto Gems from August 11, 2006 to May 21, 2012. [R.p. 21; Complaint, ¶ 1.] On August 11, 2006, Riemann and Respondent Shofner entered into a Shareholder Management Agreement (the “Shareholder Management Agreement”) concerning the corporate management of Palmetto Gems. [R.pp. 36 – 40; Agreement.] The Shareholder Management Agreement identified both Shofner and Riemann as Executive Officers, designating Shofner as President and Treasurer and Riemann as Vice-President and Secretary. [R.p. 36; Agreement, p. 1, ¶ 3.] Exhibit “A” to the Shareholder Management Agreement addressed “Salary and Profit Sharing Distributions” and established that “Co-Executive and Financial Officers shall receive an annual bonus equal to an equal split of 1/3 profits after all salaries and expenses.” [R.p. 40.]

While employed with Palmetto Gems, Riemann expressed to Shofner his concerns that he was not receiving appropriate bonuses under the Shareholder Management Agreement. [R.p. 23; Complaint, ¶ 14.] Shofner and Palmetto Gems failed to address these concerns, and Riemann ultimately filed a wage complaint with the South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing & Regulation (“LLR”) on or about February 7, 2012. LLR officially opened the investigation on or about March 14, 2012 and notified Shofner of the complaint in late March 2012. Shortly thereafter, on May 21, 2012, Shofner terminated Riemann’s employment with Palmetto Gems. [R.pp. 23-24; Complaint, ¶¶ 15-17.]

On or about June 4, 2012, LLR completed its Investigative Report concerning Riemann’s complaint and issued a citation to Palmetto Gems for numerous violations of

the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act, S.C. CODE ANN. § 41-10-10 *et seq.* [R.pp. 112-115; Report and Citation.] LLR cited Palmetto Gems for its failure to pay Riemann his bonus for 2011 in violation of the Payment of Wages Act. [Id.] Palmetto Gems did not appeal the citation to the S.C. Administrative Law Court or otherwise appeal the findings of LLR. Nevertheless, despite the findings of LLR and Riemann's demand for payment, Palmetto Gems and Shofner have continued to refuse to pay Riemann money that is due and owed to him. [R.p. 24; Complaint, ¶¶ 18-20.]

Prior to Riemann's termination, while Riemann's wife was visiting Palmetto Gems, Shofner confronted her and told her that Riemann was a "thief." He further stated that she "was wearing stolen jewelry." Shofner made these statements not only to Riemann's wife directly, but also within earshot of other employees of Palmetto Gems. Shofner made these statements with the full knowledge that they were false. Among other things, Shofner knew that the items had been placed on either a layaway or house account and knew that Riemann had made payments on them. [R. pp. 24-25; Complaint, ¶¶ 22-25.]

After Riemann filed suit, the Respondents moved to compel arbitration, relying on the "Dispute Resolution" provision of the Shareholder Management Agreement that purportedly requires settlement of "[a]ny controversy or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement or the breach thereof" by binding arbitration. [R.pp. 30-31; 37; Motion; Agreement, p. 2, ¶ 6.]

In denying the Respondents' motion to compel arbitration, the Trial Court initially found that the Shareholder Management Agreement involved interstate commerce and was subject to the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"). The Trial Court also found that the

arbitration clause of the Shareholder Management Agreement was not unconscionable. [R.pp. 4 – 14; Order, pp. 4-14.]

Nevertheless, the Trial Court denied the Respondents' motion on several grounds. First, the Trial Court found that Riemann's claim under the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act was not subject to arbitration where the Act provides employees with the right to bring a "civil action" against employers for violations of the Act and the Act also mandates that "[n]o provision of this chapter may be contravened or set aside by private agreement." S.C. CODE ANN. §§ 41-10-80(C), -100; [R.pp. 14 -16; Order, pp. 14-16.]

The Trial Court further found that the Respondents failed to provide "clear and unmistakable" evidence that the parties intended for an arbitrator to determine whether the tort claims were arbitrable. [R.pp. 16-18; Order, pp. 16-18.] Finally, the Trial Court determined that the tort claims were not "significantly related" to the Shareholder Management Agreement and that such claims were unforeseeable at the time the contract was formed, relying *inter alia* on Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of South Carolina, 373 S.C. 144, 151, 644 S.E.2d 705, 709 (2007) and Chassereau v. Global-Sun Pools, Inc., 373 S.C. 168, 172, 644 S.E.2d 718, 720 (2007). [R.pp. 18-19; Order, pp. 18-19.]

The Respondents appealed to the Court of Appeals, arguing (1) the Payment of Wages Act claim was arbitrable; and (2) the Trial Court erred in denying their motion to compel arbitration when the parties purportedly agreed that all disputes regarding the arbitrability of claims were to be submitted as a part of the arbitration proceeding. The Respondents did not separately challenge the Trial Court's ruling that Riemann's tort claims were not significantly related to the Shareholder Management Agreement.

The Court of Appeals reversed the Trial Court's ruling that the court, and not an

arbitrator, had the power to determine the arbitrability of Riemann's claims against the Respondents. Petitioner Riemann now urges this Court to reinstate the Trial Court's Order denying the Respondents' motion to dismiss and compel arbitration.

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the arbitration clause of the parties' Shareholder Management Agreement provided "clear and unmistakable" evidence the parties agreed questions of arbitrability for all disputes between Riemann and the Respondents, including statutory claims not subject to arbitration and those claims legally distinct from the parties' contractual relationship, were to be decided by the arbitrator rather than the court.**

In reversing the Trial Court's denial of the Respondents' motion to compel arbitration, the Court of Appeals held "the arbitration clause of the parties' agreement clearly and unmistakably provided that questions of arbitrability were to be decided by the arbitrator." App. 2. In so holding, the Court of Appeals relied upon the opinion of the Supreme Court of the United States in First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938 (1995).

The First Options case, however, does not mandate that the arbitrator, rather than the court, decide whether Riemann's claims against the Respondents are subject to the arbitration clause in the Shareholder Management Agreement where Riemann's claims involve statutory rights not subject to arbitration and claims that do not relate to or arise out of such Agreement. A clause in an arbitration agreement delegating the question of a dispute's arbitrability to an arbitrator (the "delegation provision") does not bind a party to arbitrate gateway questions of arbitrability with respect to disputes that are clearly not subject to mandatory arbitration or are unrelated or unconnected to the arbitration agreement.

In First Options, a clearing firm had a dispute with the Kaplans and their investment company and pursuant to the term of a workout agreement sought arbitration of the dispute by a panel of the Philadelphia stock exchange. Id. at 940-41. The Kaplans

denied that their disagreement with the clearing firm was arbitrable, and they filed written objections to that effect with the arbitration panel. The arbitrators determined that they had the power to rule on the merits of the parties' dispute and ruled in favor of the clearing firm. The Kaplans requested the federal district court to vacate the arbitration award, but upon motion of the clearing firm to confirm, the district court confirmed the award. The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit agreed with the Kaplans that their dispute was not arbitrable and reversed the district court's confirmation of the award. Id. at 941.

The Supreme Court of the United States granted certiorari to address who should have the primary power to decide whether the parties agreed to arbitrate a certain dispute. The question considered was a very narrow one with respect to the standard of review applied to an arbitrator's decision about arbitrability because in this case it was the arbitrators who made the decision that the parties' dispute was arbitrable [unlike the instant case where the question was before the Trial Court]. The Court was therefore determining what standard of review by the district court applied to the arbitrators' decision that they had the power to rule on the merits of the suit. Thus, did the power to decide arbitrability belong primarily to the arbitrators because the courts have to review their arbitrability decision deferentially or did the power belong to the court because the court determines arbitrability independently without any deference to the arbitrators' decision? Id. at 941-42.

The First Options court found the answer to the "who decides" question to be fairly simple: "Just as the arbitrability of the merits of a dispute depends upon whether the parties agreed to arbitrate that dispute . . . so the question 'who has the primary power

to decide arbitrability’ turns upon what the parties agreed about *that* matter.” Id. at 943 (emphasis in original). The First Options court expounded:

Did the parties agree to submit the arbitrability question itself to arbitration? If so, then the court's standard for reviewing the arbitrator's decision about that matter should not differ from the standard courts apply when they review any other matter that parties have agreed to arbitrate. . . . That is to say, the court should give considerable leeway to the arbitrator, setting aside his or her decision only in certain narrow circumstances. . . . If, on the other hand, the parties did not agree to submit the arbitrability question itself to arbitration, then the court should decide that question just as it would decide any other question that the parties did not submit to arbitration, namely, independently.

Id. at 943. The two answers to these questions, the Court observed, flowed “inexorably from the fact that arbitration is simply a matter of contract between the parties; it is a way to resolve those disputes-but *only* those disputes-that the parties have agreed to submit to arbitration.” Id. (emphasis added).

The language of First Options could not be clearer. The question of “who decides” depends on whether the parties agreed to submit the arbitrability question for a particular dispute to arbitration. To resolve this question, the First Options court directed the courts to apply ordinary state-law principles that govern the formation of contracts. Id. at 944. The Court also added the caveat that “[c]ourts should not assume that the parties agreed to arbitrate arbitrability unless there is *clear* and *unmistakable* evidence that they did so.” Id. (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals relied upon this language in First Options in presumably determining that the following language in the Shareholder Management Agreement provided the clear and unmistakable evidence that the parties agreed the question of whether Riemann’s claims were arbitrable should be decided by the arbitrator: “Any dispute as to whether a controversy or claim is subject to arbitration shall be submitted as

a part of the arbitration proceeding.” [R.p. 37; Agreement, p. 2, ¶ 6.]

This analysis stops short, however, in resolving the question required to be answered by the Supreme Court in First Options – whether the parties contractually agreed to submit the question of arbitrability of a particular dispute to arbitration. Id. at 943. In other words, is there clear and unmistakable evidence that Riemann agreed to submit to the arbitrator the question of arbitrability of **all** potential disputes between him and the Respondents, including claims clearly not subject to mandatory arbitration and/or claims not arising out of or related to the Shareholder Management Agreement? Based upon the language of the Shareholder Management Agreement, the First Options opinion, and upon the precedent of this Court, the answer to this question is no.

Using the guidelines set forth in First Options, to determine what Riemann and the Respondents agreed to with respect to “who decides” the arbitrability of Riemann’s particular claims, the court must look at the language of the Shareholder Management Agreement which governs the corporate management of Palmetto Gems. [R.pp. 36-40; Agreement.] In particular, Section 6 of the Agreement controls “Dispute Resolution” and provides in full:

Any controversy or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement or the breach thereof, shall be settled, except as otherwise be provided herein, by binding arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association; and the arbitration award may be entered as a final judgment in any court having jurisdiction thereon. Any dispute as to whether a controversy or claim is subject to arbitration shall be submitted as part of the arbitration proceeding. Legal costs, attorneys’ fees and the fees of expert witnesses may be assessed against any person found to have acted in bad faith. All arbitration proceedings shall be conducted by a panel of three (3) arbitrators. The party requesting arbitration shall have the right to select one (1) arbitrator and the person on the other side of the controversy shall select a second (2<sup>nd</sup>) arbitrator. The two arbitrators so chosen shall select the third (3<sup>rd</sup>). To be qualified as an arbitrator, a person must either be a certified public accountant, a

lawyer, or a businessman with at least seven (7) years experience as an executive in a closely held corporation, or a person with expertise in the subject matter of the dispute in question, e.g., a professional appraiser of shares of close corporation stock if the dispute concerns the value of the shares of the Corporation.

[R.p. 37; Agreement, p. 2, § 6.]

By its express terms, the Dispute Resolution Clause of the Shareholder Management Agreement only applies to any “controversy or claim arising out of or related to [the Shareholder Management Agreement] or the breach thereof,” and an arbitration proceeding is only held if there is a dispute “arising out of or related to” the Agreement. If there is no such dispute, there is no arbitration proceeding to be held. This is because the Dispute Resolution Clause does not apply if a dispute arises outside of the parties’ contractual relationship.

The delegation provision buried within this Dispute Resolution Clause likewise does not apply to disputes legally distinct from the parties’ contractual relationship. This delegation provision only comes into play if an arbitration proceeding is held: “Any dispute as to whether a controversy or claim is subject to arbitration shall be submitted *as part of the arbitration proceeding.*” [R.p. 37; Agreement, p. 2, § 6 (emphasis added).] But if there is no controversy or claim arising out of the Shareholder Management Agreement, there is no arbitration proceeding held in the first instance. The delegation provision therefore does not take effect.

The Respondents, however, seek to sweep every interaction and dispute between the parties under this arbitration clause without any regard to whether such disputes are connected to the Shareholder Management Agreement. The Respondents contend that the delegation provision covers every single interaction between the parties and removes

all ability of the courts to decide whether a certain claim is subject to arbitration even though the claim has no relationship to the Shareholder Management Agreement and does not arise out of or relate to the Agreement to be covered by the Dispute Resolution Clause in the first instance.

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