THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

DEC 21 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001100
Case No. 2012-CP-32-3496
Opinion No. 2015-UP-107 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed March 4, 2015)

Roger R. RiemannPetitioner.

v.

Palmetto Gems & Gemological Services, Inc. & Thomas Shofner, in his individual
capacity Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Angus H. Macaulay
James A. Byars
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC
1230 Main Street, Suite 700 (29201)
Post Office Drawer 2426
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 771.8900
AMacaulay@nexsenpruet.com
JByars@nexsenpruet.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. WELL-ESTABLISHED SUPREME COURT PRECEDENT REQUIRES ENFORCEMENT OF THE PARTIES' AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE THIS ARBITRABILITY DISPUTE.

Petitioner suggests that the question presented by this appeal requires the Court to determine whether the Agreement's "delegation provision"—in which the parties clearly and unmistakably agreed to submit any arbitrability disputes to the arbitrator—applies to certain claims that are, according to Petitioner, "clearly not subject to mandatory arbitration or are unrelated or unconnected to the arbitration agreement." Petitioner's argument focuses *exclusively* on the allegations of his particular claims, adamantly insisting that, regardless of Respondents' position to the contrary, his claims could not possibly be subject to arbitration, and thus the trial court was free to ignore the delegation provision and resolve this arbitrability dispute.

Petitioner's insistence that his claims are unarbitrable serves only to distract from the true issue presented by the parties' arbitrability dispute: *who decides* which of Petitioner's claims are subject to arbitration—the court or the arbitrator? Contrary to Petitioner's argument, the answer to this question has nothing to do with the allegations of his underlying claims, and is far from the unsettled issue that he suggests.

A. *First Options* requires trial courts to enforce "clear and unmistakable" delegation provisions.

Twenty years ago, the United States Supreme Court held that the question of "who decides" arbitrability disputes was a simple matter of contract. *First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan*, 514 U.S. 938 (1995). Parties to an arbitration agreement are permitted to contractually agree who—the court or the arbitrator—has the authority to resolve disputes as to the arbitrability of particular claims. 514 U.S. at 943.

The parties' agreement as to *who decides* arbitrability disputes is separate and distinct from the parties' agreement as to the scope of the arbitration provision—that is, *which claims* are subject to arbitration. *First Options* identified two different standards for answering these two basic questions raised by arbitration agreements. *See First Options*, 514 U.S. at 944-45 (“[T]he law treats silence or ambiguity about the question ‘who should decide arbitrability’ differently from the way it treats silence or ambiguity about the question ‘whether a particular merits-related dispute is arbitrable because it is within the scope of a valid arbitration agreement.’”).

For the first question—who decides arbitrability—the *First Options* Court recognized a presumption in favor of courts resolving arbitrability disputes, but held that this presumption may be rebutted by the express language of the parties' arbitration agreement. *Id.* at 944 (“Courts should not assume that the parties agreed to arbitrate arbitrability unless there is ‘clear and unmistakable’ evidence that they did so.”). If the arbitration provision includes a “clear and unmistakable” agreement that arbitrability disputes are to be decided by the arbitrator, the court must enforce that agreement and compel any arbitrability disputes for resolution by an arbitrator. *Id.* at 943-45.

The Supreme Court characterizes this type of agreement as a “delegation provision”—that is, “an agreement to arbitrate threshold issues concerning the arbitration agreement,” which is just as enforceable under the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) as any other agreement to arbitrate, so long as the delegation provision is “clear and unmistakable.” *Rent-a-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 130 S. Ct. 2772, 2777-78 (2010). By contrast, if an arbitration agreement is silent or ambiguous as to “who decides” arbitrability, the presumption requires the court to resolve arbitrability

disputes and refer to arbitration only those claims it determines to be within the scope of the arbitration provision. *Id.*

In keeping with the courts' liberal policy favoring arbitration, the law reverses this presumption for the second question—*which* claims are arbitrable—in that “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.” *First Options*, 514 U.S. at 945 (quoting *Moses H. Cone Mem. Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Co.*, 460 U.S. 1, 24-25 (1983)); accord *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596-97, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118-19 (2001) (holding, under South Carolina law, that arbitration must be ordered unless a court can say with “positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to any interpretation that covers the dispute”).

The *First Options* Court reasoned that the difference in these two standards was “understandable” because parties likely consider the *scope* of an arbitration provision before agreeing to it, such that the law must “insist upon clarity before concluding that the parties did *not* want to arbitrate a related matter.” 514 U.S. at 945. On the other hand, the Court recognized that the question of *who decides* arbitrability disputes is “rather arcane,” such that the law presumes that parties expected the court to resolve arbitrability disputes absent “clear and unmistakable” evidence to the contrary. *Id.*

Both this Court and the Court of Appeals have cited the holding of *First Options*, recognizing that courts generally *presume* that “gateway questions” regarding arbitration agreements, specifically including the question of “whether an arbitration clause applies to a certain type of controversy,” are to be resolved by the court, but only “in the absence of ‘clear and unmistakable’ evidence to the contrary.” *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 23, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667-68 (2007); *Davis v. KB Home of South*

Carolina, Inc., 394 S.C. 116, 713 S.E.2d 799 (Ct. App. 2011) (holding that such “gateway matters” were properly considered by the court because the arbitration agreement did not expressly provide that such matters would be submitted to arbitration); accord *New Hope Missionary Baptist Church v. Paragon Builders*, 379 S.C. 620, 667 S.E.2d 1 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *Green Tree Fin. Corp. v. Bazzle*, 539 U.S. 444 (2003)).

B. The parties’ arbitration agreement “clearly and unmistakably” delegated authority to resolve arbitrability disputes to the arbitrator.

In this case, the parties agreed to arbitrate “[a]ny controversy or claim arising out of or related to [the] Agreement or the breach thereof.” That provision of the Agreement addresses the *scope* of the claims subject to arbitration.

Immediately after defining the *scope* of the arbitration agreement, the Agreement separately provides, without exception, qualification, or ambiguity of any kind, that “[a]ny dispute as to whether a controversy or claim is subject to arbitration shall be submitted as part of the arbitration proceeding.” *First Options* recognizes this delegation provision as a separate, valid agreement to arbitrate a very particular type of dispute: a dispute as to whether specific claims fall within the *scope* of claims subject to arbitration. It is difficult to imagine language the parties could have used to more “clearly and unmistakably” delegate the authority to resolve any arbitrability disputes to the arbitrator.

Based on this language, and citing *First Options*, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court’s order denying Respondent’s Motion, and required that the court compel this arbitrability dispute to be resolved by arbitration. If the arbitrator determines that some or all of Petitioner’s claims are not subject to arbitration, those claims must be remanded to the trial court for further litigation. The Court of Appeals’ holding was not error, but was *First Options*’ clear and uncontroversial command.

C. **Petitioner misinterprets *First Options* in arguing that a delegation provision only applies to specific claims that are “clearly and unmistakably” within the scope of the arbitration agreement.**

Petitioner does not challenge the validity of the parties’ delegation provision, nor the fact that the parties “clearly and unmistakably” included this provision as part of their arbitration agreement. Instead, Petitioner misinterprets *First Options* in a manner that would, if true, completely invalidate *First Options*’ express endorsement of the parties’ right to contractually agree to arbitrate arbitrability disputes.

Petitioner asserts that, under *First Options*, a delegation provision only operates to submit disputes as to the arbitrability of specific claims to the arbitrator if the *trial court* first rules that the specific claims are “clearly and unmistakably” *within the scope* of the arbitration agreement. If the trial court finds that particular claims are not “clearly and unmistakably” *within the scope* of the agreement, Petitioner argues that the court, not the arbitrator, must resolve any disputes as to their arbitrability, even in the face of an indisputably valid delegation provision.

More specifically, Petitioner argues that the instant question before the Court is whether the parties’ delegation provision provides “clear and unmistakable evidence that [Petitioner] agreed to submit to the arbitrator the question of arbitrability of **all** potential disputes between him and the Respondents, including claims clearly not subject to mandatory arbitration and/or claims not arising out of or related to the [Agreement]?” (Pet. Br., p. 11) (emphasis in original). According to Petitioner, because his claims are “clearly and unmistakably” outside the *scope* of the arbitration agreement, the parties’ delegation provision does not apply, and thus the trial court properly ruled on arbitrability and denied Respondent’s Motion to Compel Arbitration.

Petitioner’s argument conflates the standard for *who decides* arbitrability with the standard for *which claims* are arbitrable. *First Options*’ “clear and unmistakable” standard applies **only** to the threshold question of “who decides” arbitrability: courts presume that the parties intended the court to decide arbitrability, unless the parties’ “clearly and unmistakably” agreed to delegate resolution of arbitrability disputes to the arbitrator. 514 U.S. at 943. Contrary to Petitioner’s argument, the nature of the disputed claims is totally irrelevant to resolving the issue of “who decides” arbitrability, because that question is resolved solely by the presence or absence of a “clear and unmistakable” delegation provision.

First Options recognizes that, once the question of “who decides” is resolved, the law reverses this presumption for the second question—*which claims* are arbitrable—in that “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.” *Id.* at 945. *First Options* does **not** require that the trial court first determine that the parties “clearly and unmistakably” agreed that *particular claims* are within the scope of the arbitration agreement—and thus arbitrable—before submitting disputes as to the arbitrability of those claims to arbitration. Such a requirement would overrule decades of well-settled federal and state law imposing a presumption of arbitrability and commanding that any doubt regarding arbitrability of particular claims be resolved in favor of arbitration. *First Options*, 514 U.S. 938 at 945 (“[A]ny doubts concerning the *scope* of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.”); *accord Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 596-97, 553 S.E.2d at 118-19.

The fallacy in Petitioner’s circular interpretation of *First Options* is that there would never be an arbitrability dispute to submit to the arbitrator if the court was required

to first determine which claims were within the scope of the arbitration agreement. The parties' agreement to arbitrate disputes as to the arbitrability of particular claims would be meaningless, because the trial court would not honor that agreement unless it first determined that the claims were arbitrable, thus defeating the parties' express contractual intention to have that issue decided by the arbitrator. Similarly, the trial court would necessarily be ruling that a claim was unarbitrable by ruling that the claim was not "clearly and unmistakably" within the scope of the arbitration agreement. Therefore, Petitioner's theory would overrule *First Options*, because there would *never* be an arbitrability dispute for the arbitrator to resolve, regardless of the presence of an indisputably valid delegation provision.

Petitioner couples this flawed interpretation of *First Options* with the self-serving presumption—stated as an undisputed fact—that his particular claims are not "arising out of or related to" the Agreement and are therefore outside its scope, such that he argues he did not "clearly and unmistakably" agree to submit any disputes as to their arbitrability to the arbitrator. (Pet. Br., p. 17 (stating that the delegation provision at issue "does not clearly and unmistakably establish that the parties contractually agreed to submit claims *legally distinct from the parties contractual relationship* to an arbitrator on the question of whether such claims are arbitrable.") (emphasis added)).

If Petitioner's assessment of the unarbitrability of his claims were an undisputed fact, the parties' delegation provision would be irrelevant. Respondents would not have filed a motion to compel arbitration, because there would be no dispute that Petitioner's claims were unarbitrable. There would be no need for anyone, neither court nor

arbitrator, to resolve this non-existent arbitrability dispute, and this case would not be before the Court.

But Petitioner's presumption that his claims are unarbitrable is **not** an undisputed fact. Respondents assert that *all* of Petitioner's claims "arise out of or relate" to the Agreement, because each claim arises out of the business relationship memorialized by the Agreement and requires resolution of the terms of the Agreement to support Petitioner's claim or Respondents' defenses. Petitioner asserts that *none* of his tort claims are within the scope of the arbitration agreement, because they are allegedly "legally distinct from the parties' contractual relationship." Regardless of how adamantly Petitioner insists that *his* analysis is correct, this is a dispute over arbitrability, and somebody—the court or the arbitrator—must resolve this dispute.

Indeed, *who decides* this arbitrability dispute is the only question truly presented by this appeal. *First Options* holds that the question of *who decides* turns on whether the parties' arbitration provision included a "clear and unmistakable" agreement to resolve arbitrability disputes by arbitration, and there is no dispute that the parties in this case did exactly that: they clearly and unmistakably agreed to submit arbitrability disputes "as part of the arbitration proceeding." The parties' arbitrability dispute is precisely the type of dispute that the delegation provision was designed to address, and the parties' agreement would be meaningless if, as Petitioner suggests, the only disputes referred to the arbitrator were those which the court first decided were "arising out of or related to" the Agreement.

First Options required that the trial court honor the parties' delegation provision and submit the entire case to arbitration, where the arbitrator will resolve this arbitrability

dispute. The Court of Appeals' correctly reversed the trial court because the trial court misinterpreted *First Options* in the same manner the Petitioner advocates to this Court: by requiring that specific claims be "clearly and unmistakably" within the scope of the arbitration provision before enforcing an indisputably valid delegation provision. The Court of Appeals' decision was *First Options*' clear mandate, and thus Respondents respectfully request that the Court of Appeals' decision be affirmed.

II. PETITIONER'S PAYMENT OF WAGES ACT CLAIM IS NOT UNARBITRABLE AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Petitioner separately urges the Court to rule that the S.C. Payment of Wages Act ("SCPWA" or "the Act") expressly *prohibits* arbitration of claims under the Act as a matter of law. More specifically, Petitioner alleges that a private agreement to arbitrate wage disputes under the Act conflicts with the statutory entitlement to a "civil action" to resolve such disputes, running afoul of the SCPWA's prohibition on private agreements which "contravene" or "set aside" provisions of the Act. Because Petitioner's theory would require a trial court to rule on the arbitrability of his SCPWA claim *regardless* of an indisputably valid delegation provision, Respondents separately address Petitioner's SCPWA argument.²

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